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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PAPER CONVERTING CO. LTD

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Paper Converting Co. Ltd (the ‘’Company’’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘’Group’’), and the Company’s 
separate financial statements on pages 49 to 106 which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the 
statements of profit or loss, statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
 
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 49 to 106 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as at 31 December 2020, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the Companies Act 2001.  

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Mauritius, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, 
but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Report on the audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Corporate Governance Report

Our responsibility under the Financial Reporting Act is to report on the compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance disclosed 
in the annual report and assess the explanations given for non-compliance with any requirement of the Code. From our assessment of 
the disclosures made on corporate governance in the annual report, the public interest entity has, pursuant to section 75 of the Financial 
Reporting Act complied with the requirements of the Code.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2001, and for such internal control as the Directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group and the Company or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

1. Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties, which are significant assets in the Group’s 
and the Company’s statement of financial position, are valued at 
Rs 79,627,000 as at 31 December 2020. 
The Group and the Company measures its investment properties 
at fair value. 
The determination of fair value, which is a significant accounting 
estimate, is dependent on a range of judgemental assumptions. 
In 2016, the valuation of investment properties was performed by 
an independent Chartered Valuation Surveyor. In 2017, 2018, 2019 
and 2020 the valuation of investment properties has been carried 
out by management. Management determined the fair value of 
investment properties as at 31 December 2020 not to be materially 
different from the last valuation exercise carried out in 2016 by 
valuation specialists.

As part of our audit procedures to mitigate audit risk to an 
acceptably low level, we have: 
• Assessed the design and operating effectiveness of management 
controls and systems in place around the valuation of investment 
properties; 
• Appraised the valuation methodologies used and reviewed the 
appropriateness of key management assumptions by carrying out 
a benchmarking exercise based on our knowledge of the property 
industry; and 
• Verified on a sample basis the accuracy and relevance of the 
input data used within the fair value calculations.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Cont’d)
To the Shareholders of Paper Converting Co. Ltd
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Report on the audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Key Audit Matters (Cont’d)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

1. Valuation of investment properties (Cont’d)

Due to the level of judgment involved in the valuation of investment 
properties as well as the significance of these assets to the Group’s 
statement of financial position, this is considered to be a key audit 
matter.

Based on our audit procedures, we consider investment properties 
to be reasonably valued, properly accounted for and accurately 
disclosed in the financial statements.

Refer to notes 4 & 6 of the accompanying financial statements.

2. Trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost (excluding prepayments)

Trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost 
(excluding prepayments) for year ended 31 December 2020 totalled 
Rs 146,489,066 for the Group and Rs 158,984,734 for the Holding 
Company. The main risks identified relate to the high value of the 
items and their recoverability and the proper application of IFRS 9 
to these receivables.

The Group’s and the Holding Company’s disclosure on the credit 
risk is included in the financial risk management paragraph on 
page 69 of the financial statements. 

Our audit procedures included: 
• The review of management’s evaluation on the recoverability of 
these receivables and substantiation of cash flow projections relied 
upon by management. 
• The assessment of the design and implementation of key 
controls around the monitoring of recoverability. 
• We have evaluated relevance of Expected Credit Losses (ECL) 
computed under IFRS 9 and discussed with Management to ensure 
that there is no evidence of Management bias during the selection 
of forward-looking economic scenarios and forward-looking 
indicators of changes in credit risk used for the computation of the 
ECL.

From the procedures performed, we have no matters to report.

Refer to notes 12 and 13 of the accompanying financial statements. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Cont’d)
To the Shareholders of Paper Converting Co. Ltd



PAPER CONVERTING CO. LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 202045

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Key Audit Matters (Cont’d)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

3. Impairment of investment in subsidiary companies

As at 31 December 2020, the Company has Rs 108,906,184 of 
investments (before impairment losses) in subsidiary companies, 
which are assessed for impairment where possible impairment 
indicators are identified.

The assessment of the recoverable amount requires significant 
judgement, in particular relating to estimated cash flow projections 
and discount rates. Due to the level of judgement, this is considered 
to be a key audit matter.

We have critically evaluated management’s methodologies in 
preparing impairment models and basis for key assumptions.
Our procedures in relation to those Cash Generating Units, where 
impairment indicators are identified, included: 
• Assessment of the assumptions contained within the calculations 
including growth assumptions, discount rates and implications of 
industry changes; and 
• Analysing earlier estimates against actual business development. 
We have reviewed the appropriateness of the controls over 
accounting being in line with IFRS and Group’s policy.

Refer to notes 4 & 7 of the accompanying financial statements. 

4. Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) - Valuation of Land and Buildings

Land and Buildings Valuation as set out in the critical accounting 
estimates and judgements on page 71 and in the notes on pages 75 
to 77 of the financial statements, the Group measures its land and 
buildings at fair value and this represents a significant accounting 
estimate. In 2016, the valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment 
was performed by an independent Chartered Valuation Surveyor. 
In 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 the valuation of Property, Plant 
and Equipment has been carried out by management. The Group 
determined the fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment as at 
31 December 2020 not to be materially different from the last 
valuation excercise carried out in 2016 by valuation specialists. PPE 
is valued at Rs 176,347,101 for the Group and Rs 167,724,210 for the 
Company in the Statements of Financial Position as at 31 December 
2020. 

As part of our audit procedures, we have: 
• Assessed the design and operating effectiveness of management 
controls and systems in place around the valuation of investment 
properties; 
• Appraised the valuation methodologies used and reviewed the 
appropriateness of key management assumptions by carrying out 
a benchmarking exercise based on our knowledge of the property 
industry; and 
• Verified on a sample basis the accuracy and relevance of the 
input data used within the fair value calculations;  
 
 

Refer to notes 4 & 5 of the accompanying financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Cont’d)
To the Shareholders of Paper Converting Co. Ltd
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Report on the audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Key Audit Matters (Cont’d)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

5. Borrowings 

At 31 December 2020, borrowings amounted to Rs 133,689,340 
for the Group and Rs 127,815,150 for the Company. The main risks 
identified relate to the high-risk value of the items and their 
repayment. 
 

As part of our audit procedures, we have: 
• Obtained confirmations from the Group’s banks to confirm all 
significant borrowings, including amounts, tenure and conditions.  

• We have read the most up-to-date agreements between Mauritius 
Cosmetics Limited and its financiers to understand the terms associated 
with the facilities and the amount of facility available for drawdown.  
Where debt is regarded as non-current, we tested whether the 
Group has the unconditional right to defer payment such that there 
were no repayments required within 12 months from the balance 
sheet date. 

Refer to note 17 of the accompanying financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Cont’d)
To the Shareholders of Paper Converting Co. Ltd
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Report on the audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 
by Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 
and Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group 
and the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Cont’d)
To the Shareholders of Paper Converting Co. Ltd



PAPER CONVERTING CO. LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 202048

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Companies Act 2001 

We have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, other than in our capacity as auditors and dealings in the 
ordinary course of business. 

We have obtained all information and explanations we have required.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our examination of those records.

Other matter

This report is made solely to the members of Paper Converting Co. Ltd (the “Company”), as a body, in accordance with Section 205 
of the Companies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

MOORE MAURITIUS Arvin Rogbeer, FCA, FCCA
Chartered Accountants Signing Partner
Port Louis,                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       Licensed by FRC
Mauritius.                                                                                        

Date: 01 June 2021

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Cont’d)
To the Shareholders of Paper Converting Co. Ltd
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THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY
Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

ASSETS  Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs 
Non-current assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 5  176,347,101  180,293,219  167,724,210  167,798,836 
Right-of-use assets 5A  13,892,291  18,329,449  8,132,212  13,612,579 
Investment properties 6A  79,627,000  79,627,000  79,627,000  79,627,000 
Deposit on investment property 6B  89,674,000  89,674,000  -  - 
Investments in subsidiary companies 7  -  -  108,906,184  108,906,184 
Investments in jointly controlled entity 8  294,702  377,167  294,702  377,167 
Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 9  445,702  445,702  445,702  445,702 

 360,280,796  368,746,537  365,130,010  370,767,468 
Current assets
Inventories 11  45,078,856  66,073,466  36,580,324  54,700,747 
Trade receivables 12  97,669,335  70,902,202  97,210,750  69,091,894 
Other financial assets at amortised cost 13  48,819,731  26,588,253  61,773,984  27,943,185 
Prepayments  1,098,979  3,058,302  1,098,979  3,058,302 
Cash and cash equivalents 28(c)  752,076  953,619  711,873  922,219 

 193,418,977  167,575,842  197,375,910  155,716,347 
Non-current assets classified 
as held for sale 15  -  6,019,970  -  6,019,970 

Total assets  553,699,773  542,342,349  562,505,920  532,503,785 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 16  50,000,000  50,000,000  50,000,000  50,000,000 
Share Premium 16  14,900,866  14,900,866  14,900,866  14,900,866 
Revaluation reserves  95,485,555  95,485,555  95,485,555  95,485,555 
Retained earnings  144,841,459  140,253,980  165,988,287  160,066,513 
Owners’ interest  305,227,880  300,640,401  326,374,708  320,452,934 
Non-controlling interests  (103,343)  (33,499)  -  - 
Total equity  305,124,537  300,606,902  326,374,708  320,452,934 

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 17  48,500,586  44,263,118  48,500,586  44,263,118 
Lease liabilities 5B  3,950,783  12,768,198  3,950,783  7,151,114 
Deferred tax liabilities 10  17,210,033  15,425,616  17,210,033  15,425,616 
Retirement benefit obligations 18  3,349,825  3,776,846  3,349,825  3,776,846 

 73,011,227  76,233,778  73,011,227  70,616,694 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19  85,418,204  56,892,244  79,992,048  52,641,608 
Current tax liabilities 14  973,856  1,862,475  973,856  1,862,475 
Borrowings 17  85,188,754  102,853,965  79,314,564  83,037,089 
Lease liabilities 5B  3,983,195  1,892,985  2,839,517  1,892,985 
Dividend payable 20  -  2,000,000  -  2,000,000 

 175,564,009  165,501,669  163,119,985  141,434,157 
Total liabilities  248,575,236  241,735,447  236,131,212  212,050,851 

Total equity and liabilities Rs  553,699,773  542,342,349  562,505,920  532,503,785 

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 01 June 2021.

The notes on pages 54 to 106 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditor’s report on pages 42 to 48.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 DECEMBER 2020

MR. AYMERIC HERMANN DOOKUN 
Director

MR. SEEDHESHWAR MOJEE
Director
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

 Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs 

Revenue

Turnover 21  211,834,456  223,235,450  208,444,438  219,937,397 

Operating Profit 29  9,056,822  9,898,343  9,847,114  15,962,842 

Other income 22  4,145,378  3,647,148  4,145,378  3,647,148 

Impairment losses 7(a)  -  -  -  (1,900,000)

Share of result of Joint Ventures 8  (82,465)  (49,113)  (82,465)  - 

Profit before finance costs  13,119,735  13,496,378  13,910,027  17,709,990 

Finance costs 24  (7,742,374)  (10,428,995)  (7,128,527)  (9,750,043)

Profit before taxation 26  5,377,361  3,067,383  6,781,500  7,959,947 

Taxation 14  (2,859,726)  (3,778,133)  (2,859,726)  (3,778,133)

Profit/(loss) for the year  2,517,635  (710,750)  3,921,774  4,181,814 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  2,517,635  (710,750)  3,921,774  4,181,814 

Results attributable to:

Owners of the parent  2,587,479  (371,434)  3,921,774  4,181,814 

Non-controlling interests  (69,844)  (339,316)  -  - 

 2,517,635  (710,750)  3,921,774  4,181,814 

Profit/(loss) per share (Cts.) 27  0.52  (0.07)  0.78  0.84 

 

The notes on pages 54 to 106 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Auditor’s report on pages 42 to 48.
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Notes  ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT 

Share capital

Share 
 capital 

 Share 
 premium 

 Revaluation
reserves* 

 Retained 
 earnings 

Total
 Non- 

 controlling 
interests

Total
 equity 

(a) THE GROUP
 Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs 

Balance at 01 January 2020  50,000,000  14,900,866  95,485,555  140,253,980  300,640,401  (33,499)  300,606,902 

Profit for the year  -  -  -  2,587,479  2,587,479  (69,844)  2,517,635 

Other comprehensive 
income for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Total comprehensive 
income for the year  -  -  -  2,587,479  2,587,479  (69,844)  2,517,635 

Dividend 20  -  -  -  2,000,000  2,000,000  -  2,000,000 

Balance at
31 December 2020 Rs  50,000,000  14,900,866  95,485,555  144,841,459  305,227,880  (103,343)  305,124,537 

Balance at 01 January 2019  40,000,000  14,900,866  105,485,555  142,186,286  302,572,707  305,817  302,878,524 

Loss for the year  -  -  -  (371,434)  (371,434)  (339,316)  (710,750)

Other comprehensive 
income for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Total comprehensive
income for the year  -  -  -  (371,434)  (371,434)  (339,316)  (710,750)

Consolidation adjustment  -  -  -  439,128  439,128  -  439,128 

Dividend 20  -  -  -  (2,000,000)  (2,000,000)  -  (2,000,000)

Bonus issue 16  10,000,000  -  (10,000,000)  -  -  -  - 

Balance at
31 December 2019 Rs  50,000,000  14,900,866  95,485,555  140,253,980  300,640,401  (33,499)  300,606,902 

* The revaluation reserves relate to the revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

The notes on pages 54 to 106 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Auditor’s report on pages 42 to 48.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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Notes  Share 
 capital 

 Share 
 Premium 

 Revalua tion 
reserves 

 Retained  
 earnings  Total 

(b) THE HOLDING COMPANY  Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs 

Balance at 01 January 2020  50,000,000  14,900,866  95,485,555  160,066,513  320,452,934 

Profit for the year  -  -  -  3,921,774  3,921,774 

Other comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  3,921,774  3,921,774 

Dividend 20  -  -  -  2,000,000  2,000,000 

Balance at 31 December 2020 Rs  50,000,000  14,900,866  95,485,555  165,988,287  326,374,708 

Balance at 01 January 2019  40,000,000  14,900,866  105,485,555  160,746,829  321,133,250 

Revenue deficit brought forward from 
Amalgamation  29 (b)  -  -  -  (2,862,130)  (2,862,130)
Profit for the year  -  -  -  4,181,814  4,181,814 

Other comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  1,319,684  1,319,684 

Bonus issue 16  10,000,000  -  (10,000,000)  -  - 

Dividends 20  -  -  -  (2,000,000)  (2,000,000)

Balance at 31 December 2019 Rs  50,000,000  14,900,866  95,485,555  160,066,513  320,452,934 

* The revaluation reserves relate to the revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

The notes on pages 54 to 106 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Auditor’s report on pages 42 to 48.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

 Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs 

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 28(a)  23,561,249  123,035,050  4,522,508  86,233,612 

Interest paid  (6,936,350)  (9,669,512)  (6,617,202)  (8,990,560)

Tax paid 14  (1,963,928)  (2,747,076)  (1,963,928)  (2,358,946)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities  14,660,971  110,618,462  (4,058,622)  74,884,106 

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of investment in subsidiary 7  -  -  -  (89,674,000)

Deposit on investment property 6B  -  (89,674,000)  -  - 

Purchase of investment in financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 9  -  (120,001)  -  (120,001)

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment 28(e)  (1,167,913)  (4,655,577)  (1,167,913)  (16,155,577)

Proceeds from sale of Property, Plant and Equipment  -  173,913  -  173,913 

Disposal of subsidiary, net of cash disposed 15  7,266,371  3,778,732  7,266,371  3,778,732 

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities  6,098,458  (90,496,933)  6,098,458  (101,996,933)

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings  36,065,000  21,553,602  35,458,328  21,553,603 

Payments on borrowings  (55,133,300)  (33,450,376)  (40,899,878)  (12,545,419)

Dividend paid to company shareholders 20  -  (804,361)  -  (804,361)

Proceeds from isssue of preference shares 17  17,900,000  17,900,000 

Principal paid on lease liabilities 5B  (6,727,205)  (21,506,234)  (2,253,799)  (3,501,320)

Interest paid on lease liabilities 5B  (806,024)  (759,483)  (511,326)  (759,483)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities  (8,701,529)  (34,966,852)  9,693,325  3,943,020 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  12,057,900  (14,845,323)  11,733,161  (23,169,807)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents

At 01 January,  (42,506,041)  (27,660,718)  (40,347,315)  (17,177,508)

Increase/(decrease)  12,057,900  (14,845,323)  11,733,161  (23,169,807)

At 31 December, 27(d)  (30,448,141)  (42,506,041)  (28,614,154)  (40,347,315)

The notes on pages 54 to 106 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Auditor’s report on pages 42 to 48.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Paper Converting Co. Ltd (the “Company”) is a public company incorporated and domiciled in Mauritius. The constitution of the 
Company is in conformity with the provisions of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of 
Mauritius (SEM). The principal activity of the Company to produce the international prestigious brand of toilet and tissue paper “Kleenex” 
under license from Kimberly Clark Corporation of USA. The address of its registered office is Bonne Terre, Vacoas, Mauritius. 

The Board of Directors considers Deramann Limited, domiciled in Mauritius, as the holding entity of Paper Converting Co. Ltd.

These financial statements will be submitted for consideration and approval at the forthcoming Annual Meeting of Shareholders of 
the Company.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted by the Group and the Company in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiary companies (The “Group”) 
and the separate financial statements of the parent company (The “Company”). The financial statements are presented in Mauritian 
Rupees.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2001 and have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). Where necessary, comparative figures have been amended to conform with change in presentation in the 
current year. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except that:
(i) freehold land and buildings are carried at revalued amount;
(ii) investment properties are stated at fair value; 
(iii) investments held for trading and relevant financial assets and financial liabilities are stated at their fair value; and
(iv) relevant financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost;

New and revised standards that are effective for the year beginning on 01 January 2020

In the current year, the following new and revised standards and interpretation issued by the IASB became mandatory for the first time 
for the financial year beginning on 01 January 2020:

IFRS 3                                                 Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)

IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7                 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

IAS 1 and IAS 8                                 
Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS.8) Amendments to 
references to Conceptual Framework in IFRS standards

Management has assessed the impact of these new and revised standards and interpretation and concluded that none of the above has 
an impact on these financial statements.

Standards and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Company

The new and amended standards that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial statements 
are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they 
become effective.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Standards and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Company (Cont’d)

• IFRS 16 - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 01 June 2020)

• IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (Amendments) - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (effective for the annual periods 
beginning on or after 01 January 2021)

• IFRS 4 (Amendments) - Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying IFRS 9 (effective for the annual periods beginning on 
or after 01 January 2023)

• IFRS 3 (Amendments) - Reference to the Conceptual Framework (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2022)

• IAS 16 (Amendments) - Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 01 January 2022)

• IAS 37 (Amendments) - Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
01 January 2022)

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2023)

• IAS 1 (Amendments) - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
01 January 2023)

• IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (Amendments) - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
(to be announced)

Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018-2020 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2022)

• IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Subsidiary as a first-time adopter

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities

• IAS 41 Agriculture – Taxation in fair value measurements

• IFRS 16 Leases - The amendments to illustrative example 13 accompanying IFRS 16

The Directors have not yet assessed the potential impact of the application of the standards and amendments.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.2 Property, Plant and Equipment

Land is stated at its fair value based on periodic valuations carried out by independent valuers. All other Property, Plant and Equipment is 
stated at historical cost less depreciation.  Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

Properties in the course of construction for production, or administrative purposes or for purposes not yet determined are carried at cost 
less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised. Depreciation 
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. 

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land are credited to other comprehensive income and shown as revaluation 
surplus in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against revaluation surplus directly 
in equity, all other decreases are charged to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. It is 
applied at the following rates:

Years
Building and resurfacing of yard 50
Furniture and fittings  4 - 10 
Motor vehicles 5
Plant and machinery 10
Motor vehicles - Rights of Use 5
Plant and machinery - Rights of Use 10

No depreciation is charged on land.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period.  

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount.

Gains and losses on disposals of Property, Plant and Equipment are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are 
included in profit or loss. On disposal of revalued assets, the amounts included in revaluation surplus are transferred to retained earnings.

2.3 Investment properties

Investment property, held to earn rentals/or for capital appreciation or both, and not occupied by the Group is carried at fair value, 
representing open-market value determined periodically by independent valuers. Changes in fair values are included in profit or loss.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.4 Intangible assets

(i) Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software and 
are amortised over their estimated useful lives 3-5 years).

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as expenses as incurred.

The amortisation period and amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at the end of each 
reporting period.

(ii) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

2.5 Investments in subsidiary companies

Separate financial statements of the investor

In the separate financial statements of the investors, investments in subsidiary companies are carried at cost. The carrying amount is 
reduced to recognise any impairment in the value of individual investments.

Consolidated financial statements

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control.  The Group controls an entity when the 
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
though its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date 
that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group.  
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group 
recognises any non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of 
the acquiree’s net assets. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at 
initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair 
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired 
is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the 
difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.5 Investments in subsidiary companies (Cont’d)

Transactions and non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases from non-
controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets 
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.  

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with 
the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently 
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.  

2.6 Investment in Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of 
the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions 
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Joint ventures are accounted for using the following method:

Separate financial statements of the investor

In the separate financial statements of the investors, investments in joint ventures are carried at cost. The carrying amount is reduced 
to recognise any impairment in the value of individual investments.

Consolidated financial statements

Investment in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost as adjusted by post acquisition charges in the Group’s share of the net assets 
of the associate less any impairment in the value of individual investments.  

Any excess of the cost of acquisition and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities 
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess 
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities, after assessment, is included as income in the determination 
of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss.  

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in associate, the Group discontinues recognising further losses unless it has 
incurred legal or constructive obligation or made payments on behalf of the associate.  

Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.  

Where necessary, appropriate adjustments are made to the financial statements of associates to bring the accounting policies used in 
line with those adopted in the Group.  

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.  

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.7 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the categories discussed below, depending on the purpose for which the asset was 
acquired. Other than financial assets in a qualifying hedging relationship, the Group’s accounting policy for each category is as follows:

(i) Amortised cost

These assets arise principally from the provision of goods and services to customers (e.g. trade receivables), but also incorporate 
other types of financial assets where the objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the 
contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less provision for impairment. 

Impairment provisions for trade receivables are recognised based on the simplified approach within IFRS 9 using the lifetime 
expected credit losses. During this process the probability of the non-payment of the trade receivables is assessed. This probability 
is then multiplied by the amount of the expected loss arising from default to determine the lifetime expected credit loss for the 
trade receivables. For trade receivables, which are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a separate provision account with 
the loss being recognised within cost of sales in the statement of comprehensive income. On confirmation that the trade receivable 
will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated provision.

Impairment provisions for receivables from related parties and loans to related parties are recognised based on a forward looking 
expected credit loss model. The methodology used to determine the amount of the provision is based on whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. For those where the credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition of the financial asset, twelve month expected credit losses along with gross interest income are 
recognised. For those for which credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime expected credit losses along with the gross interest 
income are recognised. For those that are determined to be credit impaired, lifetime expected credit losses along with interest 
income on a net basis are recognised.

From time to time, the Group elects to renegotiate the terms of trade receivables due from customers with which it has previously 
had a good trading history. Such renegotiations will lead to changes in the timing of payments rather than changes to the amounts 
owed and, in consequence, the new expected cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate and any resulting 
difference to the carrying value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (operating profit).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.7 Financial assets (Cont’d)

(i) Amortised cost (Cont’d)

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents 
in the statement of financial position. 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less, and – for the purpose of the statement of cash flows - bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts 
are shown within loans and borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

(ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income 

The Group has investments in listed and unlisted entities which are not accounted for as subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled 
entities. For those investments, the Group has made an irrevocable election to classify the investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income rather than through profit or loss as the Group considers this measurement to be the most representative 
of the business model for these assets. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the fair value through other comprehensive income reserve. Upon disposal any balance within fair 
value through other comprehensive income reserve is reclassified directly to retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or 
loss. 

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, 
in which case the full or partial amount of the dividend is recorded against the associated investments carrying amount.

Purchases and sales of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised on settlement 
date with any change in fair value between trade date and settlement date being recognised in the fair value through other 
comprehensive income reserve.  

2.8 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include the following items:

- Trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, which are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

- Bank borrowings and the Group’s loan notes are initially recognised at fair value net of any transaction costs directly attributable 
to the issue of the instrument. Such interest-bearing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, which ensures that any interest expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance 
of the liability carried in the statement of financial position. For the purposes of each financial liability, interest expense includes 
initial transaction costs and any premium payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is 
outstanding.

2.9 Leases

(i) Leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease liability except for:
• Leases of low value assets; and
• Leases with a duration of 12 months or less.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.9 Leases (Cont’d)

Identifying Leases

The Company/Group accounts for a contract, or a portion of a contract, as a lease when it conveys the right to use an asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. Leases are those contracts that satisfy the following criteria:

(a) There is an identified asset;
(b) The Company/Group obtains substantially all the economic benefits from use of the asset; and
(c) The Company/Group has the right to direct use of the asset.

The Company/Group considers whether the supplier has substantive substitution rights. If the supplier does have those rights, 
the contract is not identified as giving rise to a lease.

In determining whether the Company/Group obtains substantially all the economic benefits from use of the asset, the Company/
Group considers only the economic benefits that arise use of the asset, not those incidental to legal ownership or other potential 
benefits.

In determining whether the Company/Group has the right to direct use of the asset, the Company/Group considers whether it 
directs how and for what purpose the asset is used throughout the period of use. If there are no significant decisions to be made 
because they are pre-determined due to the nature of the asset, the Company/Group considers whether it was involved in the 
design of the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose the asset will be used throughout the period of use. 
If the contract or portion of a contract does not satisfy these criteria, the Company/Group applies other applicable IFRSs rather 
than IFRS 16.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to the lessor over the lease term, with the 
discount rate determined by reference to the rate inherent in the lease unless (as is typically the case) this is not readily determinable, 
in which case the group’s incremental borrowing rate on commencement of the lease is used. Variable lease payments are only 
included in the measurement of the lease liability if they depend on an index or rate. In such cases, the initial measurement of the 
lease liability assumes the variable element will remain unchanged throughout the lease term. Other variable lease payments are 
expensed in the period to which they relate.

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes:

• amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee;
• the exercise price of any purchase option granted in favour of the Company/Group if it is reasonable certain to assess that option;

•
any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been estimated on the basis of termination option being 
exercised.

Right of use assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, reduced for any lease incentives received, and increased for:

• lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease;
• initial direct costs incurred; and
• the amount of any provision recognised where the Company/Group is contractually required to dismantle, remove or restore the 

leased asset (typically leasehold dilapidations).

Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilities increase as a result of interest charged at a constant rate on the balance 
outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. Right-of-use assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining 
term of the lease or over the remaining economic life of the asset if, rarely, this is judged to be shorter than the lease term.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.9 Leases (Cont’d)

When the Company/Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of a 
lessee extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments 
to make over the revised term, which are discounted at the same discount rate that applied on lease commencement. The carrying 
value of lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable element of future lease payments dependent on a rate or index is 
revised. In both cases an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying 
amount being amortised over the remaining (revised) lease term.

When the Company/Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the lessor, the accounting depends on the nature of 
the modification:

• if the renegotiation results in one or more additional assets being leased for an amount commensurate with the standalone price 
for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the modification is accounted for as a separate lease in accordance with the above policy.

• in all other cases where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension to the lease term, or one or 
more additional assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the discount rate applicable on the modification date, 
with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same amount.

• if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying amount of the lease liability and right-of-use 
asset are reduced by the same proportion to reflect the partial of full termination of the lease with any difference recognised in 
profit or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount of the renegotiated 
payments over the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments discounted at the rate applicable on the modification date. 
The right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.

For contracts that both convey a right to the Company/Group to use an identified asset and require services to be provided to 
the Company/Group by the lessor, the Company/Group has elected to account for the entire contract as a lease, i.e., it does 
allocate any amount of the contractual payments to, and account separately for, any services provided by the supplier as part of 
the contract.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense 
in profit or loss.

Accounting for leases - where Company is the lessor.

Lease income from leases where the Company/Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight line basis over the lease 
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining the lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised 
as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet 
based on their nature. The Company/Group did not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as 
a result of adopting IFRS 16.

2.10 Borrowings costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalised until such time 
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.11 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

2.11 Current and deferred income tax

Current tax

The current income tax charge is based on taxable income for the year calculated on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affect neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for.  

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting date 
and are expected to apply in the period when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised.  

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair 
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption 
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose 
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodies in the investment property over time, rather than through 
sale.  

2.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined under the weighted average cost method. 
Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and applicable 
variable selling expenses.  

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.14 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value being their issue proceeds net of transaction costs incurred.

Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

2.15 Retirement benefit obligations

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The company 
has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the 
benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Company operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan for all qualifying employees. Payments to defined contribution 
plan are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service that entitle them to the contributions.

Gratuity on retirement

The net present value of retirement gratuity payable under the Workers Right Act 2019 is calculated by the Directors and provided for. 
The obligations arising under this item are not funded.

2.16 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially stated at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

2.17 Foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using Mauritian rupees, the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entities operate (“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Mauritian rupees, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
of the transaction.  

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date the 
fair value was determined.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject 
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  

2.19 Revenue recognition

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Sales of goods

Revenue derived from selling goods is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods has transferred to the customer. 
This is generally when the goods are delivered to the customer. There is limited judgement needed in identifying the point control 
passes: once physical delivery of the products to the agreed location has occurred, the Company no longer has physical possession, 
usually will have a present right to payment (as a single payment on delivery) and retains none of the significant risks and rewards of 
the goods in question. 

Determining the transaction price

Revenue derived from selling goods is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods has transferred to the customer. 
This is generally when the goods are delivered to the customer. There is limited judgement needed in identifying the point control 
passes: once physical delivery of the products to the agreed location has occurred, the Company no longer has physical possession, 
usually will have a present right to payment (as a single payment on delivery) and retains none of the significant risks and rewards of 
the goods in question. 

Allocating amounts to performance obligations

Revenue derived from selling goods is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods has transferred to the customer. 
This is generally when the goods are delivered to the customer. There is limited judgement needed in identifying the point control 
passes: once physical delivery of the products to the agreed location has occurred, the Company no longer has physical possession, 
usually will have a present right to payment (as a single payment on delivery) and retains none of the significant risks and rewards of 
the goods in question. 

Practical Exemptions

The company has taken advantage of the practical exemptions:

• Not to account for significant financing components where the time difference between receiving consideration and transferring 
control of goods (or services) to its customer is one year or less; and

• Expense the incremental costs of obtaining a contract when the amortisation period of the asset otherwise recognised would have 
been one year or less.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

(b) Other revenues earned by the Company is recognised on the following bases: 

• Other income is recognised as it accrues unless collectibility is in doubt.

(c) Other revenues earned by the Group are recognised on the following bases:

• Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial 
assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

• Dividend income - when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

• Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the agreement.

2.20 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements in the period in 
which the dividends are declared.  

2.21 Segment reporting

Segment information presented relate to operating segments that engage in business activities for which revenues are earned and 
expenses incurred.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial Risk Factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risk factors, including:

(a) market risk;
(b) credit risk;
(c) liquidity risk; and
(d) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effect on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by treasury department under policies approved by the Board of Directors. Treasury identifies, evaluates 
and hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the operating units. The Board provides principles for overall risk management, 
as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and non-derivative financial 
instruments and investment of excess liquidity.

A description of the significant risk factors is given below together with the risk management policies applicable.

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The Group/Company operates internationally and is therefore exposed primarily to foreign exchange risk in currencies such as the 
Euro and United State Dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and 
net investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to require the Group to manage their foreign exchange risk exposure with treasury.

The Group/Company has certain investments in foreign operation whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. 
Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the Group/Company foreign operations in Madagascar is managed primarily through 
borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.

At 31 December 2020 if the rupee had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the foreign currencies with all variables held constant, 
the Group’s post tax profit for the year would have been Rs 119,003 (2019: Rs 22,886) higher/lower mainly as a result of foreign 
exchange gains/losses on translation of Euro/USD denominated cash and cash equivalents and payables.  
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial Risk Factors (Cont’d)

(a) Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Currency risk (Cont’d)

Currency profile

The tables below summarise the currency profiles of the Group’s Financial assets and liabilities: 

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

MRU EURO USD TOTAL MRU EURO USD TOTAL

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs

As at
31 December 2020
Financial assets
Trade receivables  97,669,335  -  -  97,669,335  97,210,750  -  -  97,210,750 
Other financial assets 
at amortised cost  48,819,731  -  -  48,819,731  61,773,984  -  -  61,773,984 
Cash in hand and at 
bank

 210,499  25,839  515,738  752,076  204,773  17,775  489,325  711,873 

 146,699,565  25,839  515,738  147,241,142  159,189,507  17,775  489,325  159,696,607 

Financial liabilties
Trade & other 
payables  82,076,556  -  3,341,648  85,418,204  76,650,400  -  3,341,648  79,992,048 
Borrowings  133,689,340  -  -  133,689,340  127,815,150  -  -  127,815,150 
Lease liabilities  7,933,978  -  -  7,933,978  6,790,300  -  -  6,790,300 

 223,699,874  -  3,341,648  227,041,522  211,255,850  -  3,341,648  214,597,498 

As at
31 December 2019
Financial assets
Trade receivables  70,902,202  -  -  70,902,202  69,091,894  -  -  69,091,894 
Other financial assets 
at amortised cost  26,588,253  -  -  26,588,253  27,943,185  -  -  27,943,185 
Cash in hand and at 
bank  415,119  27,594  510,906  953,619  415,119  17,775  489,325  922,219 

 97,905,574  27,594  510,906  98,444,074  97,450,198  17,775  489,325  97,957,298 

Financial liabilties
Trade & other 
payables  56,892,244  -  -  56,892,244  52,641,608  -  -  52,641,608 
Borrowings  147,117,083  -  -  147,117,083  127,300,207  -  -  127,300,207 
Lease liabilities  14,661,183  -  -  14,661,183  9,044,099  -  -  9,044,099 

 218,670,510  -  -  218,670,510  188,985,914  -  -  188,985,914 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial Risk Factors (Cont’d)

(a) Market risk (Cont’d)

(ii) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the Group and classified in the statements of financial 
position as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk. 
To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is 
done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

Sensitivity analysis

The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases in the fair value of the investments on the Group’s equity.  

The analysis is based on the assumption that the fair value had increased/decreased by 5%.

Impact on equity

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

 Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs 
+/-5% +/-5% +/-5% +/-5%

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income  22,285  22,285  22,285  22,285 

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, 
including outstanding receivables. Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated 
parties are accepted.

Risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The compliance with credit 
limits by customers is regularly monitored by line management. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure 
spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.  

The table below shows the percentage balances of its major counterparties at the end of the reporting period.

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

% % % %
5 major counterparties  87  88  89  90 
Others  13  12  11  10 

 100  100  100  100 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial Risk Factors (Cont’d)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivery of cash or another financial assets. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash in hand, 
marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out 
market positions. The Group aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date.

THE GROUP Less than
1 year

Between 1
and 5 years

More than
5 years Total

At 31 December 2020 Rs Rs Rs Rs
Bank overdrafts  31,200,217  -  31,200,217 
Bank loans - secured  11,194,710  18,524,475  15,411,610  45,130,795 
Lease liabilities  3,983,195  3,950,783  -  7,933,978 
Import loan  40,065,000  -  40,065,000 
Preference shares  2,728,826  5,780,753  8,783,749  17,293,328 
Trade and other payables  85,418,204  -  85,418,204 

At 31 December 2019 Rs Rs Rs Rs
Bank overdrafts  43,459,660  -  -  43,459,660 
Bank loans - secured  8,894,059  44,263,118  -  53,157,177 
Lease liabilities  1,892,985  12,768,198  -  14,661,183 
Import loan  36,900,246  -  -  36,900,246 
Trade and other payables  56,892,244  -  -  56,892,244 

THE HOLDING COMPANY Less than
1 year

Between 1
and 5 years

More than
5 years Total

At 31 December 2020 Rs Rs Rs Rs
Bank overdrafts  29,326,027  -  29,326,027 
Bank loans - secured  11,194,710  33,936,085  15,411,610  45,130,795 
Lease liabilities  2,839,517  3,950,783  -  6,790,300 
Import loan  36,065,000  -  36,065,000 
Preference shares  2,728,826  5,780,753  8,783,749  17,293,328 
Trade and other payables  79,992,048  -  -  79,992,048 

At 31 December 2019 Rs Rs Rs Rs
Bank overdrafts  41,269,534  -  -  41,269,534 
Bank loans - secured  8,894,059  44,263,118  -  53,157,177 
Lease liabilities  1,892,985  7,151,114  -  9,044,099 
Import loan  32,873,496  -  -  32,873,496 
Trade and other payables  52,641,608  -  -  52,641,608 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial Risk Factors (Cont’d)

(d) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent 
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from borrowings.  Borrowings issued at variable rates expose 
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s 
borrowings as shown in the financial statements are exposed to interest rate risks as it borrows mainly at variable rates.

The Group’s operating cash flows are exposed to interest risk as it borrows at variable rates.  At 31 December 2020, if interest rates on 
rupee denominated borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year would 
have decreased/increased by Rs 640,824 (2019: Rs 808,891) for the Group and Rs 614,634 (2019: Rs 681,722) for the Company mainly 
as a result of higher/lower interest rate expense on floating rate borrowings.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by close market monitoring.

3.2 Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.  
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry Group, 
pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length 
basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in 
level 1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily quoted equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income.  

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. 
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on specific 
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If fair value is based on unobservable inputs, it is classified as Level 3.  

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values.  
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current 
market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

3.3 Capital Risk Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

• To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for the shareholders and 
benefit for other stakeholders, and

• to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the 
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell 
assets to reduce debt.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.3 Capital Risk Management (Cont’d)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is 
calculated as net debt adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated as total debt (as shown in the statements of financial position) less 
cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity (i.e., share capital, non-controlling interests, retained 
earnings, and revaluation and other reserves) other than amounts recognised in equity relating to cash flow hedges, and includes some 
forms of subordinated debt.  

During 2020, the Group’s strategy was to reduce the debt-to-capital ratio to a reasonable level in order to secure access to finance at 
a reasonable cost.

The debt-to-capital ratios at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 were as follows:

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Total debt (Note 17)  133,689,340  147,117,083  127,815,150  127,300,207 
Lease liabilities (Note 5B)  7,933,978  14,661,183  6,790,300  9,044,099 
Less: cash in hand and at bank (Note 28 (d))  (752,076)  (953,619)  (711,873)  (922,219)
Net debt (Note 27 (b))  140,871,242  160,824,647  133,893,577  135,422,087 

Total equity  305,124,537  300,606,902  326,374,708  320,452,934 

Debt-to-capital ratio 46% 53% 41% 42%

The net debt to equity ratio improved from 53% in 2019 to 46% in 2020 and from 42% in 2019 to 41% in 2020 for the Group and the 
Holding Company respectively following an improvement in the Group’s and Holding Company’s results and substantial repayments of 
debts and leases during the year.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital risk management during the year.
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020



PAPER CONVERTING CO. LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 202073

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal 
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses 
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s history, existing 
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

(b) Depreciation policies

Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The residual value of an asset is 
the estimated net amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal of the asset if the asset were already of the age and in 
the condition expected at the end of its useful life.  

The Directors therefore make estimates based on historical experience and use best judgement to assess the useful lives of assets and 
to forecast the expected residual values of the assets at the end of their expected useful lives.  

(c) Asset lives and residual values

Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated over its useful life taking into account residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives 
of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In reassessing asset lives, factors 
such as technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments 
consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values. Consideration is also 
given to the extent of current profits and losses on the disposal of similar assets.

(d) Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment and investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the profit or loss. In addition, 
it measures land and buildings at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognised in other comprehensive income. 
The Group had engaged valuation specialists to determine fair value at 31 December, 2016. The Directors are of the opinion that the fair 
value at 31 December 2020 is not materially different to the last valuation performed by the valuation specialists. 

The determined fair value of the investment properties is most sensitive to the estimated yield as well as the long-term vacancy rate.  

(e) Fair value of securities not quoted in an active market

The fair value of securities not quoted in an active market may be determined by the Group using valuation techniques including third 
party transaction values, earnings, net asset value or discounted cash flows, whichever is considered to be appropriate. The Group 
would exercise judgement and estimates on the quantity and quality of pricing sources used. Changes in assumptions about these 
factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020



PAPER CONVERTING CO. LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 202074

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Cont’d)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Cont’d)

(f) Impairment of assets

Goodwill is considered for impairment at least annually. Property, Plant and Equipment, and intangible assets are considered for 
impairment if there is a reason to believe that impairment may be necessary. Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision 
include the economic viability of the asset itself and where it is a component of a larger economic unit, the viability of that unit itself.

Future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets or cash-generating units are projected, taking into account market conditions 
and the expected useful lives of the assets. The present value of these cash flows, determined using an appropriate discount rate, 
is compared to the current net asset value and, if lower, the assets are impaired to the present value. The impairment loss is first allocated 
to goodwill and then to the other assets of a cash-generating unit.

Cash flows which are utilised in these assessments are extracted from formal five-year business plans which are updated annually. 
The Group utilises the valuation model to determine asset and cash-generating unit values supplemented, where appropriate, 
by discounted cash flow and other valuation techniques.

(g) Limitations of sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis in respect of market risk demonstrates the effect of a change in a key assumption while other assumptions remain 
unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should also be noted that these sensitivities 
are non-linear and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or extrapolated from these results. 

Sensitivity analysis does not take into consideration that the Group’s assets and liabilities are managed. Other limitations include the 
use of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate potential risk that only represent the Group’s view of possible near-term market 
changes that cannot be predicted with any certainty.

(h) Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment properties the Directors reviewed the 
Group’s investment property portfolio and concluded that certain of the Group’s investment properties are held under a business model 
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than 
through sales. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the Directors have determined that the 
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely through 
sale is rebutted for certain of the Group’s investment properties. As a result, the Group has not recognised deferred taxes on changes in 
fair value of such investment properties. 

(g) Going concern

The Group’s and the Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not 
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold
Land

Freehold
Building

Plant & 
Machinery

Furniture & 
fittings

Motor 
vehicles 
(Owned) Total

(a) THE GROUP

2020 Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs
COST/VALUATION
At 01 January 2020  31,277,000  118,104,150  248,304,298  19,239,746  7,681,537  424,606,731 
Transfer  -    -    (1,365,260)  2,306,130  (940,870)  -   
Transfer to rights of use assets (note 5A)  -    -    (6,128,240)  -    -    (6,128,240)
Transfer from rights of use assets (note 5A)  -    -    5,185,784  -    -    5,185,784 
Additions (note 27(e))  -    -    789,105  378,808  4,950,000  6,117,913 
At 31 December 2020  31,277,000  118,104,150  246,785,687  21,924,684  11,690,667  429,782,188 

DEPRECIATION
At 01 January 2020  -    8,437,605  209,696,967  18,564,487  7,614,453  244,313,512 
Transfer  -    -    662,376  1,536  (663,912)  -   
Transfer to rights of use assets (note 5A)  -    -    (3,605,977)  -    -    (3,605,977)
Transfer from rights of use assets (note 5A)  -    -    2,445,478  -    -    2,445,478 
Charge for the year (note 25)  -    2,362,083  6,248,786  588,434  1,082,771  10,282,074 
At 31 December 2020  -    10,799,688  215,447,630  19,154,457  8,033,312  253,435,087 

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2020 Rs  31,277,000  107,304,462  31,338,057  2,770,227  3,657,355  176,347,101 

Freehold
Land

Freehold
Building

Plant & 
Machinery

Furniture & 
fittings

Motor 
vehicles 
(Owned) Total

(b) THE GROUP

2019 Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs
COST/VALUATION
At 01 January 2019  31,277,000  117,930,150  261,200,972  19,203,089  19,942,789  449,554,000 
Adjustment for change in accounting 
policy  -    -    (17,341,594)  -    (12,151,252)  (29,492,846)
At 01 January 2019 - Restated  -    117,930,150  243,859,378  19,203,089  7,791,537  420,061,154 
Additions  -    174,000  4,444,920  36,657  -    4,655,577 
Disposals  -    -    -    -    (110,000)  (110,000)
At 31 December 2019  31,277,000  149,381,150  248,304,298  19,239,746  7,681,537  424,606,731 

DEPRECIATION
At 01 January 2019  -    5,879,765  207,622,108  17,550,179  9,307,612  240,359,664 
Adjustment for change in accounting 
policy  -    -    (3,995,125)  -    (1,856,195)  (5,851,320)
At 01 January 2019 - Restated  -    5,879,765  203,626,983  17,550,179  7,451,417  234,508,344 
Charge for the year (note 25)  -    2,557,840  1,996,872  1,014,308  240,035  5,809,055 
Consolidation adjustment  -    -    4,073,112  -    -    4,073,112 
Disposal adjustment  -    -    -    -    (76,999)  (76,999)
At 31 December 2019  -    8,437,605  209,696,967  18,564,487  7,614,453  244,313,512 

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2019 Rs  31,277,000  140,943,545  38,607,331  675,259  67,084  180,293,219 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Freehold
Land

Freehold
Building

Plant & 
Machinery

Furniture & 
fittings

Motor 
vehicles 
(Owned) Total

(c) THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs
COST/VALUATION
At 01 January 2020  31,277,000  118,104,150  218,670,106  15,311,979  6,618,667  389,981,902 
Transfer from rights of use assets (note 5A)  -    -    5,185,784  -    -    5,185,784 
Additions (note 27(e))  -    -    789,105  378,808  4,950,000  6,117,913 
At 31 December 2020  31,277,000  118,104,150  224,644,995  15,690,787  11,568,667  401,285,599 

DEPRECIATION
At 01 January 2020  -    8,437,605  192,491,118  14,701,576  6,552,766  222,183,065 
Transfer from rights of use assets (note 5A)  -    -    2,445,478  -    -    2,445,478 
Charge for the year (note 25)  -    2,362,082  5,240,668  318,096  1,012,000  8,932,846 
At 31 December 2020  -    10,799,687  200,177,264  15,019,672  7,564,766  233,561,389 

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2020 Rs  31,277,000  107,304,463  24,467,731  671,115  4,003,901  167,724,210 

Freehold
Land

Freehold
Building

Plant & 
Machinery

Furniture & 
fittings

Motor 
vehicles 
(Owned) Total

(d) THE HOLDING COMPANY

2019 Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs
COST/VALUATION
At 01 January 2019  31,277,000  117,930,150  164,495,348  13,269,579  12,151,252  339,123,329 
Adjustment for change in accounting 
policy  -    (8,629,599)  -    (12,151,252)  (20,780,851)
At 01 January 2019 - Restated  31,277,000  117,930,150  155,865,749  13,269,579  -    318,342,478 
Acquisition through business combination 
(note 28)  -    -    46,859,437  2,005,743  6,728,667  55,593,847 
Additions  -    174,000  15,944,920  36,657  -    16,155,577 
Disposals  -    -    -    -    (110,000)  (110,000)
At 31 December 2019  31,277,000  118,104,150  218,670,106  15,311,979  6,618,667  389,981,902 

DEPRECIATION
At 01 January 2019  -    5,879,765  147,721,065  12,769,363  1,856,195  168,226,388 
Adjustment for change in accounting 
policy

 -    -    (2,522,261)  -    (1,856,195)  (4,378,456)

At 01 January 2019 - Restated  -    5,879,765  145,198,804  12,769,363  -    163,847,932 
Acquisition through business combination 
(note 28)

 -    -    43,397,292  1,268,958  6,414,130  51,080,380 

Charge for the year (note 25)  -    2,557,840  3,895,022  663,255  215,635  7,331,752 
Disposal adjustment  -    -    -    -    (76,998)  (76,998)
At 31 December 2019  -    8,437,605  192,491,118  14,701,576  6,552,767  222,183,066 

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2019 Rs  31,277,000  109,666,545  26,178,988  610,403  65,900  167,798,836 
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(e) Land and buildings of the Group have been revalued on 31 December 2016 by JBA & Partners Ltd, an external Independent Certified 
Practising Valuer. Valuations were made on the basis of its open market value. The book value of land has been adjusted to the revalued 
amount and the resultant surplus has been credited to revaluation surplus in shareholders’ equity. 

Details of the Group’s freehold land and buildings measured at fair value and information about the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

THE GROUP &
THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019

 Level 2  Level 2 

 Rs  Rs 

Freehold land  31,277,000  31,277,000 
Freehold building  107,304,462  109,666,545 
Total Rs  138,581,462  140,943,545 

There were no transfers between levels during the year. 

The fair value of the freehold land was derived using the sales comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable land in close proximity 
are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most significant input into this valuation approach is price per 
arpent.  

(f) If land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amount would be as follows:

THE GROUP &
THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019

 Rs  Rs 
Cost  74,068,727  74,068,727 
Accumulated depreciation  (15,085,612)  (13,769,118)
Net book value Rs  58,983,115  60,299,609 

(g) Borrowings are secured on the assets of the Group including Property, Plant and Equipment.

(h) Depreciation charge amounted to Rs 10,282,074 (2019: Rs 5,809,055) for the group and Rs 8,932,846 (2019: Rs 7,331,752) for 
the Company.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

5A. RIGHT TO USE ASSETS THE GROUP
Plant and 

machinery Motor vehicles Total(i) Year 2020
Cost Rs  Rs  Rs 

At 01 January 2020  17,341,594  12,151,252  29,492,846 
Transfer from Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 5)  6,128,240 -  6,128,240 
Transfer to Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 5)  (5,185,784) -  (5,185,784)
At 31 December 2020  18,284,050  12,151,252  30,435,302 

Amortisation

At 01 January 2020  6,876,952  4,286,445  11,163,397 
Charge for the year  1,788,865  2,430,250  4,219,115 
Transfer from Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 5)  3,605,977 -  3,605,977 
Transfer to Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 5)  (2,445,478) -  (2,445,478)
At 31 December 2020  9,826,316  6,716,695  16,543,011 

Net book value  8,457,734  5,434,557  13,892,291 

(ii) Year 2019

Cost

At 01 January 2019 - - - 
- effect of adopting IFRS 16  17,341,594  12,151,252  29,492,846 
At 31 December 2019  17,341,594  12,151,252  29,492,846 

Amortisation

At 01 January 2019 - - - 
- effect of adopting IFRS 16  3,995,125  1,856,195  5,851,320 
- as restated  3,995,125  1,856,195  5,851,320 
Charge for the year  2,881,827  2,430,250  5,312,077 
At 31 December 2019  6,876,952  4,286,445  11,163,397 

Net book value  10,464,642  7,864,807  18,329,449 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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5A. RIGHT TO USE ASSETS (Cont’d) THE HOLDING COMPANY
Plant and 

machinery Motor vehicles Total(iii) Year 2020
Cost  Rs  Rs  Rs 
At 01 January 2020  8,629,599  12,151,252  20,780,851 
Transfer to Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 5)  (5,185,784)  -  (5,185,784)
At 31 December 2020  3,443,815  12,151,252  15,595,067 

Amortisation

At 01 January 2020  2,881,827  4,286,445  7,168,272 
Charge for the year  309,811  2,430,250  2,740,061 
Transfer to Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 5)  (2,445,478)  -  (2,445,478)
At 31 December 2020  746,160  6,716,695  7,462,855 

Net book value  2,697,655  5,434,557  8,132,212 

(iv) Year 2019 THE HOLDING COMPANY

Plant and 
machinery Motor vehicles Total

Cost  Rs  Rs  Rs 
At 01 January 2019  -  -  - 
- effect of adopting IFRS 16  8,629,599  12,151,252  20,780,851 
At 31 December 2019  8,629,599  12,151,252  20,780,851 

Amortisation

At 01 January 2019  -  -  - 
- effect of adopting IFRS 16  2,522,261  1,856,195  4,378,456 
- as restated  2,522,261  1,856,195  4,378,456 
Charge for the year  359,566  2,430,250  2,789,816 
At 31 December 2019  2,881,827  4,286,445  7,168,272 

Net book value  5,747,772  7,864,807  13,612,579 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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5B. LEASE LIABILITIES THE GROUP
Plant and 

machinery Motor vehicles Total
(i) Year 2020 Rs  Rs  Rs 

At 01 January 2020  7,214,781  7,446,402  14,661,183 
Interest expense (note 24)  362,716  443,308  806,024 
Lease payments  (5,462,028)  (2,071,201)  (7,533,229)
At 31 December 2020  2,115,469  5,818,509  7,933,978 

Analysed as follows:

 - Current 1,575,913 2,407,282  3,983,195 
 - Non Current  539,556  3,411,227  3,950,783 

2,115,469 5,818,509  7,933,978 

(ii) Year 2019 THE GROUP
Plant and 

machinery Motor vehicles Total
Rs  Rs  Rs 

At 01 January 2019

- effect of adopting IFRS 16  26,268,123  9,899,294  36,167,417 
- as restated  26,268,123  9,899,294  36,167,417 
Interest expense (note 24)  150,012  609,471  759,483 
Lease payments  (19,203,354)  (3,062,363)  (22,265,717)
At 31 December 2019  7,214,781  7,446,402  14,661,183 

Analysed as follows:

 - Current  171,912  1,721,073  1,892,985 
 - Non Current  7,042,869  5,725,329  12,768,198 

 7,214,781  7,446,402  14,661,183 

THE HOLDING COMPANY
Plant and 

machinery Motor vehicles Total
(iii) Year 2020  Rs  Rs  Rs 

At 01 January 2020  1,597,697  7,446,402  9,044,099 
Interest expense (note 24)  68,018  443,308  511,326 
Lease payments  (693,924)  (2,071,201)  (2,765,125)
At 31 December 2020  971,791  5,818,509  6,790,300 

Analysed as follows:
 - Current  432,235 2,407282  2,839,517 
 - Non Current  539,556  3,411,227  3,950,783 

 971,791  5,818,509  6,790,300 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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5B. LEASE LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

(iv) Year 2019 THE HOLDING COMPANY
Plant and 

machinery Motor vehicles Total
 Rs  Rs  Rs 

At 01 January 2019
- effect of adopting IFRS 16  2,646,125  9,899,294  12,545,419 
- as restated  2,646,125  9,899,294  12,545,419 
Interest expense (note 24)  150,012  609,471  759,483 
Lease payments  (1,198,440)  (3,062,363)  (4,260,803)
At 31 December 2020  1,597,697  7,446,402  9,044,099 

Analysed as follows:
 - Current  171,912  1,721,073  1,892,985 
 - Non-Current  1,425,785  5,725,329  7,151,114 

 1,597,697  7,446,402  9,044,099 

(a) Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)

The Group and the Company leases a number of vehicles on lease. The rate of interest on leased vehicles varies between 6.85% 
to 7.25%.

(b) Variable lease payments 

The percentages in the table below reflect the current proportions of lease payments at 31 December 2020. The sensitivity reflects the 
impact on the carrying amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets if there was an uplift of 5% on the balance sheet date to lease 
payments that are variable.

(a) Year 2020  Plant & Machinery 
 No. of 

 Contracts 
 Fixed 

 payments 
 Variable 

 payments  Sensitivity 
 %  %  Rs 

The Group 2 100% - N/A
The Holding Company 1 100% - N/A

 Motor vehicles 

The Group 5 100% - N/A
The Holding Company 5 100% - N/A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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5B. LEASE LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

(b) Year 2019  Plant & Machinery 
 No. of 

 Contracts 
 Fixed 

 payments 
 Variable 

 payments  Sensitivity 
 %  %  Rs 

The Group 3 100% - N/A
The Holding Company 2 100% - N/A

 Motor vehicles 

The Group 5 100% - N/A
The Holding Company 5 100% - N/A

(c) The total interest relating to lease liabilities included under finance cost amounted to Rs 806,024 (2019 : Rs 759,483) for the Group and 
Rs 511,326 (2019 : Rs 759,483) for the Company.

(d) The total cash outflows for leases in 2020 was Rs 7,533,229 (2019: Rs 22,265,717) for the Group and Rs 2,765,125 (Rs 4,260,803) for the 
Company respectively.

6A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019
(i) Fair value Rs Rs Rs Rs

At 01 January & 31 December Rs  79,627,000  79,627,000  79,627,000  79,627,000 

Investment properties were last revalued by an external independent qualified valuer, JBA & Partners Ltd, chartered Quantity Surveyors, 
in 31 December 2016 and the basis of the valuation carried out was on market value. The Directors are of the opinion that the fair value 
of the investment and properties at the reporting date are not materially different to the amounts reported in the financial statements. 
The Company has pledged all of its investment properties to secure its banking facilities and other borrowings.

(ii) Details of the Group’s and the Company’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

 2020 2019 2020 2019

 Level 2  Level 2  Level 2  Level 2 

 Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs 
Freehold land & building  13,717,000  13,717,000  13,717,000  13,717,000 
Building on leasehold land  65,910,000  65,910,000  65,910,000  65,910,000 

Rs  79,627,000  79,627,000  79,627,000  79,627,000 

There were no transfers between levels during the year.

(iii) The Group has pledged all its investment property to secure general banking facilities granted to the group.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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6A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

(iv) If investment properties were stated on the historical cost basis, the amount would be as follows:
THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs

At 01 January & 31 December Rs  67,803,592  67,803,592  67,803,592  67,803,592 

(v) The following amounts have been recognised in profit or loss:-
THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019
Rs Rs Rs Rs

Rental income (note 30) Rs  1,331,261  1,331,261  1,331,261  1,331,261 

No operating expenses relating to investment properties was incurred during the year for the Group and the Holding Company 
(2019: nil).

6B. DEPOSIT ON INVESTMENT PROPERTIES THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs

Deposit on investment properties Rs  89,674,000  89,674,000  -  - 

Following a pre-sale agreement dated 17.10.2019, it was mutually agreed that properties owned by Mauritius Cosmetics Ltd with a 
fair value of Rs 89.674m would be transferred after year end to “PCCL Properties” (a subsidiary of Paper Converting Co. Ltd) at a 
consideration price of Rs 89.674 m. Given that the properties were available for immediate sale in their present conditions and that the 
sale was earmarked after year end, the Group has classified the building as deposit on investment property. As at 31 December 2020, 
the transfer had not taken place yet due to national lockdown as a result of COVID-19. Even though the sale was delayed, management 
has the firm intention to complete the transfer as business activity resumes.

7. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019

Unquoted Unquoted
Cost Rs Rs

(a) At 01 January,  108,906,184  46,132,184 
Additions (Note (b))  -  89,674,000 
Amalgamation (Note (c) /Note 28)  -  (25,000,000)
Total investment in subsidiary before impairment  108,906,184  110,806,184 
Impairment charge for the year (Note (d))  -  (1,900,000)
At 31 December, Rs  108,906,184  108,906,184 

(b) Additions during the year were as follows:  2020  2019 

 Rs  Rs 
PCCL Properties Co. Ltd  -  89,674,000 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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7. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (Cont’d)

(c) Amalgamation during the year were as follows: 2020 2019
   Rs  Rs

Tissue Converting Ltd (100% owned by PCCL in 2018)  -  10,000,000
Pacon Ltd (100% owned by PCCL in 2018)  -  15,000,000

 Rs  -  25,000,000

(d) The impairment assessment of each cash generating unit is based mainly on the projected discounted future cash flows and also takes 
in account the economic environment.

(e) The subsidiaries details and the % shareholding are as follows:

Name of 
Company

Class of  
shares
held Year end

Stated  
capital

Cost of 
Investment 

(before 
impairment 

losses)

Proportion of 
direct ownership 

interest

Proportion of 
indirect ownership 

interest
Country of  

incorporation  
and operation Main business2020 2019 2020 2019

 Rs  Rs 
% 

Holding
% 

Holding
% 

Holding
%  

Holding

Gumboots & 
Protectivewear 
Manufacturing 
Ltd* Ordinary 

shares
31 

December,  10,409,320  9,232,117 95 95 - -

Mauritius

Manufacturing 
of boots, 
gloves 
and safety 
equipment

The Green 
Paper Bag Co 
Ltd*

Ordinary 
shares

31 
December,  15,000,000  10,000,067 95 95 - -

Mauritius
Manufacturing 
of recycling 
paper bags

PCCL 
Properties Co 
Ltd**

Ordinary 
shares

31 
December,  89,774,000  89,674,000 100 100 - -

Mauritius
Investment 
properties

 115,183,320 108,906,184 

* These companies have no statutory requirement to prepare audited financial statements however audited financial summary have been 
presented.

** The financial statements of PCCL Properties Co Ltd have not been audited as the company is dormant.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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8. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

(a) Joint Venture

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

 Rs  Rs  Rs  Rs 
At 01 January  377,167  426,280  377,167  377,167 
Share of loss  (82,465)  (49,113)  (82,465)  - 
At December 31 Rs  294,702  377,167  294,702  377,167 

(b) The results of the following joint ventures, all of which are unlisted, have been included in the financial statements:

Company 
name

Year end
Nature of
business

Country of
incorporation
and operation

Current
assets

Non-
current
assets

Current
liabilities

Non-
current

liabilities
Revenue (Loss)

Proportion of
ownership interest

Direct Indirect

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs % %
2020
Big 

Technologies
31 

December IT services Mauritius  812,078  23,286 245,962  -  -  (15,425)  50.0  - 
Bonne Terre 
management 
Company Ltd

31 
December

Management 
services Mauritius  47,754,093 4,215,528 61,985,968 5,826,428 25,452,000  (688,817)  50.0  - 

2019
Big 

Technologies
31 

December IT services Mauritius 812,078  23,286 230,257  -  -  (18,237)  50.0  - 

Bonne Terre 
management 
Company Ltd

31 
December

Management 
services Mauritius

 

38,914,940 2,039,959 51,780,613 4,328,244  17,569,000 (9,388,719)  50.0  - 

(c) The above Jointly controlled entity is accounted for using the equity method.

(d) Results for the year and accumulated losses not recognised were as follows: Results for the year Accumulated losses

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs

Big Technologies  (15,425)  (18,237)  (541,302)  (525,877)
Bonne Terre Management Co. Ltd  (688,817) (9,388,719)  (16,842,775)  (16,153,958)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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8. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY (Cont’d)

(e) Reconciliation of summarised financial position

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount recognised in the financial statements.

Big Technologies
Bonne Terre  

Management Co. Ltd*
2020 2019 2020 2019

2020 Rs Rs Rs Rs

Operating net (liabilities)/assets  604,827  623,064  (15,153,958)  (5,765,239)
(Loss)/ profit for the year  (15,425)  (18,237)  696,178  (9,388,719)
Closing net liabilities  589,402  604,827  (14,457,780)  (15,153,958)
Ownership interest (%)  50  50  50  50 

 294,701  302,414  (7,228,890)  (8,726,891)
Goodwill  -    -    -  - 
Carrying value*  294,701  377,166  1  1 

* The carrying value of Bonne Terre Management Co. Ltd has been limited to Rs 1 (2019: Rs 1). The Group’s share of loss is limited to 
initial investment cost.

9. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(i)                Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
At 01 January,  325,701  325,701  325,701  325,701 
Additions  120,001  120,001  120,001  120,001 
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income  -  -  -  - 
At 31 December,  445,702  445,702  445,702  445,702 

(ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets include the following: 

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Unquoted:
Ecocentre Limitee & Les Lycees Associes Ltee  325,701  325,701  325,701  325,701 
Bonne Terre Investment  120,001  120,001  120,001  120,001 

 445,702  445,702  445,702  445,702 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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9. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Cont’d)

(iii) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income include the Group’s equity investments not held for 
trading and debt securities held to collect and sell. The Group has made an irrevocable election to classify the equity investments at 
fair value through other comprehensive income rather than through profit or loss because this is considered to be more appropriate 
for these investments.

(iv) The fair value of the unquoted securities are based on expected cash flows discounted using a rate based on the market interest rate 
and the risk premium specific to the unlisted securities.

(v) This investment is classified as level 3 fair value hierarchy under the fair value estimation and there is no movement as compared to 
prior year. As at reporting date, management considers the fair values of the investments to approximate the costs.

(v) This investment is classified as level 3 fair value hierarchy under the fair value estimation and there is no movement as compared to 
prior year. As at reporting date, management considers the fair values of the investments to approximate the costs.

(vi) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are denominated in Mauritian Rupees.

10. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method at 17% (2019: 17%).

(a) There is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred income taxes and liabilities 
when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority on the same entity.

The following amounts are shown in the statements of financial position:

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY
2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Deferred tax liabilities Rs  17,210,033  15,425,616  17,210,033  15,425,616 

(b) The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY
2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
At 01 January,  15,425,616  13,509,958  15,425,616  13,509,958 
Charged to profit or loss (note 14(b))  1,784,417  1,915,658  1,784,417  1,915,658 
At 31 December, Rs  17,210,033  15,425,616  17,210,033  15,425,616 

(c) The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within 
the same fiscal authority on the same entity, is as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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10. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

THE GROUP
(i) Year 2020 At 01 January 

2020
Charged to 

profit or loss
At 31 December 

2020
Rs Rs Rs

Accelerated tax depreciation  16,067,590  1,711,913  17,779,503 
Retirement benefit obligations  (642,064)  72,594  (569,470)
Net deferred tax liabilities Rs  15,425,616  1,784,417  17,210,033 

(ii) Year 2019 At 01 January 
2019

Charged to 
profit or loss

At 31 December 
2019

Rs Rs Rs
Accelerated tax depreciation  13,640,226  2,427,364  16,067,590 
Retirement benefit obligations  (130,268)  (511,796)  (642,064)
Net deferred tax liabilities Rs  13,509,958  1,915,658  15,425,616 

THE COMPANY

(iii) Year 2020 At 01 January 
2020

Charged to 
profit or loss

At 31 December 
2020

Rs Rs Rs
Accelerated tax depreciation  16,067,590  1,711,913  17,779,503 
Retirement benefit obligations  (642,064)  72,594  (569,470)
Net deferred tax liabilities Rs  15,425,526  1,784,507  17,210,033 

(iv) Year 2019 At 01 January 
2019

Charged to 
profit or loss

At 31 December 
2019

Rs Rs Rs
Accelerated tax depreciation  13,640,226  2,427,364  16,067,590 
Retirement benefit obligations  (130,268)  (511,796)  (642,064)
Net deferred tax liabilities Rs  13,509,958  1,915,658  15,425,616 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

(d) Unused tax losses at the end of the reporting date that were available for offset against future profits were as follows: 

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Unused tax losses Rs  32,129,189  34,745,751  -  - 

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the above tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax 
losses expire on a rolling basis over 5 years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

11. INVENTORIES THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Raw materials (at cost)  29,760,578  38,079,203  21,658,460  32,677,102 
Finished goods (at net realisable value)  8,713,836  22,311,701  8,489,100  16,595,389 
Packing materials (at net realisable value)  6,604,442  5,682,562  6,432,764  5,428,256 

Rs  45,078,856  66,073,466  36,580,324  54,700,747 

(a) The carrying amounts of inventories arrived at as follows:
THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019
At cost: Rs Rs Rs Rs
Finished goods  10,413,836  22,311,701  9,689,100  16,595,389 
Packing materials  12,604,442  6,282,562  12,432,764  6,028,256 
Raw materials  29,760,578  38,079,203  21,658,460  32,677,102 

 52,778,856  66,673,466  43,780,324  55,300,747 
Fall in value of stock  (7,700,000)  (600,000)  (7,200,000)  (600,000)
At net realisable value Rs  45,078,856  66,073,466  36,580,324  54,700,747 

(iii) There was no fall in value for inventory of raw materials held at as 31 December 2020 (2019 : nil).

(b) The movement on the fall of value in inventories is as follows:
THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
At 01 January,  600,000  -  600,000  - 
Fall in value of stock charged to Profit & Loss (note 28)  7,100,000  600,000  6,600,000  600,000 
At 31 December, Rs  7,700,000  600,000  7,200,000  600,000 

(c) The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in supplies and services amounted to Rs 133,404,936 (2019: Rs 145,062,585) 
for the Group and Rs 131,113,376 (2019: Rs 142,279,704) for the Company.

(d) Borrowings are secured by fixed/floating charges on the assets of the Group and the Company, including inventories.



PAPER CONVERTING CO. LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 202090

12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Trade receivables  99,391,622  71,889,800  98,933,037  70,079,492 
Provision for doubtful debts  (1,722,287)  (987,598)  (1,722,287)  (987,598)
Trade receivables - net Rs  97,669,335  70,902,202  97,210,750  69,091,894 

(i) Impairment of trade receivables 

The Group and Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days 
past due. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before 31 December 2020 or 
01 January 2020 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are 
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. The group has identified the GDP of the Country in which it sells its goods to the most relevant factors and accordingly 
the historical loss rate based on expected changes in these factors.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2019 and 01 January 2019 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was determined as follows for 
trade receivables:

THE GROUP 2017 2018 2019  Average 

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Expected loss rate 2.31% 1.02% 0.45% 1.17%
Credit sales (Rs)  164,353,228  227,455,981  218,191,107  203,333,439 
Loss allowance (Rs)  3,803,485  2,326,019  987,598  2,372,367 

THE HOLDING COMPANY 2017 2018 2019  Average 

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Expected loss rate 0.09% 0.07% 0.46% 0.23%
Credit sales (Rs)  164,353,228  159,412,794  214,893,054  179,553,025 
Loss allowance (Rs)  147,018  111,958  987,598  415,525 

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
At 01 January,  987,598  747,594  987,598  747,594 
Loss allowance recognised during the year  734,689  240,004  734,689  240,004 
At 31 December, Rs  1,722,287  987,598  1,722,287  987,598 

(ii) Trade and other receivables are denominated in Mauritian rupee as shown in note 3.1(a).
(iii) The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group 

does not hold any collateral as security.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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13. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST
THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Receivable from related parties (note 29)  46,778,716  13,503,043  61,620,984  14,857,975 
Deposit on investment  -  13,085,210  -  13,085,210 
Other receivables  2,041,015  -  153,000  - 

 48,819,731  26,588,253  61,773,984  27,943,185 
Credit Loss allowances  -  -  -  - 

Rs  48,819,731  26,588,253  61,773,984  27,943,185 

(a) The financial assets at amortised are interest free, unsecured and repayable on demand.
(b) Fair values of financial assets at amortised cost

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value. 
Directors consider the carrying amount of non-current receivables to approximate their fair value.

(c) Impairment and risk exposure

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost did not include any loss allowance as at 31 December 2020.
(ii) Financial assets at amortised cost are denominated in Mauritian rupee and Euro as shown in note 3.1. 
(iii) There is no exposure to price risk as the investments will be held to maturity. 

14. TAXATION

(a) Amounts recognised in the statements of financial position:
THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
At 01 January,  1,862,475  2,747,077  1,862,475  2,358,947 
Current tax on the adjusted profit for the
year at 15% (2019: 15%)  431,094  1,598,410  431,094  1,598,410 
Tax paid during the year  (1,963,928)  (2,747,076)  (1,963,928)  (2,358,946)
CSR contribution  213,121  264,064  213,121  264,064 
Covid-19 levy payable under the Government Wage Assistance 
Scheme  431,094  -  431,094  - 

At 31 December, Rs  973,856  1,862,475  973,856  1,862,475 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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14. TAXATION (Cont’d)

(b) Amounts recognised in the statements of profit or loss:
THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Current tax on the adjusted profit for the year at 15% (2019: 15%)  431,094  1,598,411  431,094  1,598,411 
Covid-19 levy payable under the Government 
Wage Assistance Scheme  431,094  -  431,094  - 
Deferred income taxes (note 10(b))  1,784,417  1,915,658  1,784,417  1,915,658 

 2,646,605  3,514,069  2,646,605  3,514,069 
CSR contribution  213,121  264,064  213,121  264,064 
Charge for the year Rs  2,859,726  3,778,133  2,859,726  3,778,133 

(c) Tax reconciliation
The tax on the Group’s and the Company’s profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic 
tax rate of the Company as follows:

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Profit before taxation  5,377,361  3,067,383  6,781,500  7,959,947 
Tax calculated at a rate of 15% (2019: 15%)  806,604  460,107  1,017,225  1,397,615 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  55,584  200,796  58,084  200,795 
Tax losses on which no deferred tax were recognised  -  937,507  -  - 
CSR contribution  213,121  264,064  -  264,064 
Deferred tax (note 10(b))  1,784,417  1,915,659  1,784,417  1,915,659 
Tax charge (Note 12) Rs  2,859,726  3,778,133  2,859,726  3,778,133 

15. NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE THE GROUP AND 
THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019

Rs Rs
At 01 January,  6,019,970  9,798,702 
Disposals  (6,019,970)  (3,778,732)

At 31 December,  Rs  -  6,019,970 

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with a third party in respect of the disposal of its 
investment in Madatrade Ltée. the disposal is scheduled in various stages over a three year period and a number of conditions have to 
be satisfied. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group and the Holding Company disposed its shares as follows:

THE GROUP AND 
THE HOLDING COMPANY

Rs Rs
Proceeds on disposal  7,266,371  3,778,732 
Cost of assets  (6,019,970)  (3,778,732)
Profit on disposal recognised during the year (note 22) Rs  1,246,401  - 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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16. STATED CAPITAL
THE GROUP AND THE HOLDING COMPANY

Number of
ordinary shares

Ordinary
 shares

Share 
Premium Total

Rs Rs Rs

At 01 January 2019 4,000,000 40,000,000 14,900,866 54,900,866 
Proceeds from shares issued (note (ii)) 1,000,000 10,000,000  - 10,000,000 
At 31 December 2019 & 2020 5,000,000 50,000,000 14,900,866 64,900,866 

(i) The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 5,000,000 (2019: 5,000,000 shares) with a par value of Rs 10.00 per share (2019: 
Rs 10.00 per share). All issued shares are fully paid. The Company has one class of shares and each share carries a right to vote and a 
right to dividend.

(ii) On 25 April 2019,  the Company proceeded with a Bonus Issue in the ratio of 1 new ordinary share for each 4 ordinary shares held, 
totalling Rs 10,000,000 and made up to 1,000,000 new ordinary shares of Rs 10.00 each. The main purpose of the Bonus Issue is to 
improve the liquidity of Paper Converting Co. Ltd shares on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius.

17. BORROWINGS THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Non-current
Bank loans-Secured  33,936,085  44,263,118  33,936,085  44,263,118 
Redeemable preference Shares*  14,564,501  -  14,564,501  - 

 48,500,586  44,263,118  48,500,586  44,263,118 

Current
Bank overdrafts  31,200,217  43,459,660  29,326,027  41,269,534 
Bank loans-Secured  11,194,710  8,894,059  11,194,710  8,894,059 
Import loan  40,065,000  36,900,246  36,065,000  32,873,496 
Redeemable preference Shares*  2,728,827  -  2,728,827  - 
Shareholders’ loan  -  13,600,000  -  - 

 85,188,754  102,853,965  79,314,564  83,037,089 

Total borrowings Rs  133,689,340  147,117,083  127,815,150  127,300,207 

* Redeemable Preference shares
The Company issued 716 cumulative redeemable preference shares at Rs 25,000 per share during the year 2020. The shares are 
redeemable at the option of the shareholder which option shall be exercising during a 3-month period as from 31 December 2020 to 
30 September 2026 and pay dividends at the prevailing repo rate + 2% annually (as at 31 December 2020, the repo rate was at 1.85%). 

(a) The bank borrowings are secured by fixed and floating charges on the assets of the Group including Property, Plant and Equipment, 
investment property and inventories (notes 5, 6 and 11). Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased asset revert 
to the lessor in the event of default. There are no other restrictions imposed on the Group or on the Company by lease arrangements 
other than in respect of the specific assets being leased.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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17. BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

The rates of interest are as follows:-

— Bank overdraft is at 4.95%
— Bank loans is at 4.95%
— Bank leases vary between 6.85% and 8%
— Import loans is at 4.95%

(b) The exposure of the Group’s and the Company’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates are as follows:

6 months 6 - 12 1 - 5 Over 5
(i) THE GROUP or less months years years Total

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs
At 31 December 2020
Total borrowings  133,689,340  -  -  -  133,689,340 

At 31 December 2019
Total borrowings  147,117,083  -  -  -  147,117,083 

(b) The exposure of the Group’s and the Holding Company’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates are 
as follows (Cont’d) :

6 months 6 - 12 1 - 5 Over 5
(ii) THE COMPANY or less months years years Total

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs
At 31 December 2020
Total borrowings  127,815,150  -  -  -  127,815,150 

At 31 December 2019
Total borrowings  127,300,207  -  -  -  127,300,207 

(c) The maturity of non-current borrowings is as follows:

(i) Non-current borrowings: THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
After one year and before five years  24,305,227  14,994,602  24,305,227  14,994,602 
After five years  24,195,359  29,268,516  24,195,359  29,268,516 

 Rs  48,500,586  44,263,118  48,500,586  44,263,118 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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17. BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

(ii) Non-current borrowings can be analysed as follows: 
THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
After one year and before five years
- Bank loans  18,524,474  14,994,602  18,524,474  14,994,602 
- Preference shares  5,780,753  -  5,780,753  - 

 Rs  24,305,227  14,994,602  24,305,227  14,994,602 

After five years
- Bank loans  15,411,610  29,268,516  15,411,610  29,268,516 
- Preference shares  8,783,749  -  8,783,749  - 

 Rs  24,195,359  29,268,516  24,195,359  29,268,516 

(d) The carrying amounts of non-current borrowings are not materially different from their fair values.  

(e) The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings approximate their fair values.

(f) The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s borrowings are denominated in Mauritian Rupee.

18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Retirement benefits comprise mainly of retirement gratuity payable under the Workers’ Rights Act 2019

(i) Movement in retirement gratuity: THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
At 01 January  3,776,846  2,710,572  3,776,846  868,450 
Benefits paid  -  (1,149,653)  -  (1,149,653)
Overprovision in previous years  -  979,110  -  2,821,232 
Total current service cost (credited)/ charged to profit or loss 
(note 23(b))  (427,021)  1,236,817  (427,021)  1,236,817 
At 31 December  Rs  3,349,825  3,776,846  3,349,825  3,776,846 

(ii) It has been assumed that the rate of future salary increases will be equal to the discount rate.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY
2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Trade payables  18,377,683  16,286,240  16,743,784  13,884,897 
Amounts due to related parties (note 29)  29,144,859  11,275,284  25,365,091  9,425,991 
Royalties payable  29,489,082  22,004,409  29,489,082  22,004,409 
Other payables  8,406,580  7,326,311  8,394,091  7,326,311 

Rs  85,418,204  56,892,244  79,992,048  52,641,608 

The carrying amounts of trade and other 
payables approximate their fair values.

20. DIVIDEND PAYABLE THEGROUP & THE COMPANY
2020 2019

(a) Amounts recognised the statements of financial position: Rs Rs
At 01 January  2,000,000  804,361 
Declared during the year  -  2,000,000 
Paid during the year  -  (804,361)
Dividend cancelled during the year  (2,000,000)  - 
At 31 December  Rs  -  2,000,000 

During the year 2019, a dividend of Rs 0.40 per share was declared amounting to Rs 2,000,000. However, following the Covid-19 
pandemic, during a shareholder’s meeting held on 25 September 2020 it was resolved to cancel the dividend payable of Rs 2,000,000 
due to the unforeseeable and unprecedented economic impact on the Group’s operational and financial activities.

21. TURNOVER

(a) The following is an analysis of the Group’s and Company’s turnover for the year.

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY
2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs

Sales of goods Rs  211,834,456  223,235,450  208,444,438  219,937,397 

(b) Primary geographic markets THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY
2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Mauritius  210,441,319  220,723,138  207,051,301  217,425,085 
Other countries  1,393,137  2,512,312  1,393,137  2,512,312 

Rs  211,834,456  223,235,450  208,444,438  219,937,397 

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY
2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
(c) Timing of revenue recognition:

At a point in time  211,834,456  223,235,450  208,444,438  219,937,397 
Over time  -  -  -  - 

Rs  211,834,456  223,235,450  208,444,438  219,937,397 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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22. OTHER INCOME THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019
Rs Rs Rs Rs

Rental income (note 29)  1,331,261  1,331,261  1,331,261  1,331,261 
Other income  -  2,174,846  -  2,174,846 
Profit on disposal of investment (note 15)  1,246,401  -  1,246,401  - 
Grant Received under the ‘’Wage Assistance Scheme’’  1,567,716  -  1,567,716  - 
Interest income  -  128  -  128 
Profit on disposal of plant and equipment  -  140,913  -  140,913 

Rs  4,145,378  3,647,148  4,145,378  3,647,148 

23.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY
2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs

(a) - Paper Converting Co. Ltd  13,524,729  14,399,794  13,524,729  14,399,794 
- Other subsidiary companies  -  583,911  -  - 

Rs  13,524,729  14,983,705  13,524,729  14,399,794 

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY
2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
(b) Employee benefit expense can be analysed as follows:

Wages and salaries  12,606,084  12,077,619  12,606,084  11,508,643 
Social security cost  973,533  1,236,321  973,533  1,236,321 
Other post-retirement benefits (note 18)  (427,021)  1,236,817  (427,021)  1,236,817 
Pension costs-defined contribution plans  372,133  432,948  372,133  418,013 

Rs  13,524,729  14,983,705  13,524,729  14,399,794 

24. FINANCE COSTS THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019
Interest expense: Rs Rs Rs Rs

- bank and other loans repayable by instalments  5,056,518  7,864,187  4,844,710  7,187,848 
- preference shares  155,041  -  155,041  - 
- bank overdrafts  1,666,261  1,609,522  1,558,920  1,609,522 
- finance leases  806,024  759,483  511,326  759,483 

 7,683,844  10,233,192  7,069,997  9,556,853 
- Net foreign exchange losses  58,530  195,803  58,530  193,190 
Net finance costs Rs  7,742,374  10,428,995  7,128,527  9,750,043 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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25. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after

(i) crediting:
Profit on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 22)  -  140,913  -  140,913 
Profit on disposal of investment (Note 15)  1,246,401  -  1,246,401  - 
Rental income from investment properties (Note 6A (v))  1,331,261  1,331,261  1,331,261  1,331,261 

(ii) and charging:
Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 5)  10,282,074  5,809,055  8,932,846  2,953,296 
Amortisation:
 - Motor Vehicles (Note 5A)  2,430,250  2,430,250  2,430,250  2,430,250 
 - Plant and machinery (Note 5A)  1,788,865  2,881,827  309,811  359,566 
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses (Note 11)  133,404,936  145,062,585  131,113,376  142,279,704 
Impairments losses:
 - Investment in subsidiaries (Note 7 (a))  -  -  -  1,900,000 
 - Provision for doubtful debt (Note 12(i))  734,689  240,004  734,689  240,004 
Share of result of associates (Note 8(a))  82,465  49,113  82,465  - 
Employee benefit expense (Note 23)  13,524,729  14,983,705  13,524,729  14,399,794 

26. PROFIT/(LOSS) PER SHARE
THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

 2020 2019 2020 2019

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company                                                           Rs  2,587,479  (371,434)  3,921,774  4,181,814 

Number of ordinary shares in issue  5,000,000  5,000,000  5,000,000  5,000,000 

Profit/(loss) per share (Cts.)  0.52  (0.07)  0.78  0.84 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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27. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019
(a) Cash generated from operations Rs Rs Rs Rs

Profit before taxation  5,377,361  3,067,383  6,781,500  7,959,947 
Adjustments:
Share of result of joint venture (note 8)  82,465  49,112  82,465  - 
Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment (note 5)  10,282,074  5,809,055  8,932,846  7,331,752 
Amortisation:
- Motor Vehicles (note 5A)  2,430,250  2,430,250  2,430,250  2,430,250 
- Plant & Machinery (note 5A)  1,788,865  2,881,827  309,811  359,566 
Retirement benefit obligations (note 18)  (427,021)  1,066,274  (427,021)  2,908,396 
Profit on disposal of property, plant and  
equipment (note 22)  -  (140,912)  -  (140,912)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary (note 15)  (1,246,401)  -  (1,246,401)  - 
Loss on amalgamation (note 28 (b))  -  -  -  (2,862,130)
Impairment losses:
- Investment in subsidiaries (note 7)  -  -  -  1,900,000 
Consolidation adjustment  -  4,512,240  - 
Property, plant & equipment acquired on 
amalgamation (note 29(a))  -  -  (4,513,467)
Interest expense (note 24)  7,742,374  10,428,995  7,128,527  9,750,043 

 26,029,967  30,104,224  23,991,977  25,123,445 
Changes in working capital:
-inventories  20,994,610  17,010,440  18,120,423  (12,377,664)
-trade receivables  (26,767,133)  76,562,236  (28,118,856)  79,146,572 
-other financial assets at amortised cost  (22,231,478)  26,065,902  (33,830,799)  9,613,715 
-prepayments  1,959,323  1,190,377  1,959,323  (326,478)
-trade and other payables  23,575,960  (27,898,129)  22,400,440  (14,945,978)
Cash generated from operations Rs  23,561,249  123,035,050  4,522,508  86,233,612 

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

THE GROUP  01 January, Cash  
flows

Other non-
cash changes

 31 December, 
(i) Year 2020 2020 2020

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Bank Loans  90,057,423  (4,861,628)  -  85,195,795 
Shareholders’ loan  13,600,000  (13,600,000)  -  - 
Redeemable preference Shares  -  17,293,328  -  17,293,328 
Lease liabilities  14,661,183  (7,533,229)  806,024  7,933,978 
Liabilities arising from financing activities  118,318,606  (8,701,529)  806,024  110,423,101 
Cash & cash equivalents and bank overdrafts  42,506,041  (12,057,900)  -  30,448,141 
Net debt (note 3.3) Rs  160,824,647  (20,759,429)  806,024  140,871,242 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
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27. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)

(ii) Year 2019 01 January, 
2019

Cash  
flows

Other non-
cash changes

31 December, 
2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Bank Loans  115,554,197  (25,496,774)  -  90,057,423 
Shareholders’ loan  -  13,600,000  -  13,600,000 
Lease liabilities  36,167,417  (22,265,717)  759,483  14,661,183 
Liabilities arising from financing activities  151,721,614  (34,162,491)  759,483  118,318,606 
Cash & cash equivalents and bank overdrafts  27,660,718  14,845,323  -  42,506,041 
Net debt (note 3.3) Rs  179,382,332  (19,317,168)  759,483  160,824,647 

THE HOLDING COMPANY  01 January,  Cash Other non-
cash changes

 31 December, 
(iii) Year 2020 2020 flows 2020

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Bank Loans  86,030,673  (4,834,878)  -  81,195,795 
Preference shares  -  17,293,328  -  17,293,328 
Lease liabilities  9,044,099  (2,765,125)  511,326  6,790,300 
Liabilities arising from financing activities  95,074,772  9,693,325  511,326  105,279,423 
Cash & cash equivalents and bank overdrafts  40,347,315  (11,733,161)  -  28,614,154 
Net debt (note 3.3) Rs  135,422,087  (2,039,836)  511,326  133,893,577 

(iv) Year 2019 01 January, 
2019

Cash  
flows

Other non-
cash changes

31 December, 
2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Bank Loans  77,022,489  9,008,184  -  86,030,673 
Lease liabilities  12,545,419  (4,260,803)  759,483  9,044,099 
Liabilities arising from financing activities  89,567,908  4,747,381  759,483  95,074,772 
Cash & cash equivalents and bank overdrafts  17,177,507  23,169,809  -  40,347,315 
Net debt (note 3.3) Rs  106,745,415  27,917,190  759,483  135,422,087 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY
2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Cash in hand and at bank Rs  752,076  953,619  711,873  922,219 

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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27. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)

(d) Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts include the following for the purpose of the statements of cash flows:

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019
Cash and cash equivalents Rs Rs Rs Rs
- Acquired through business combination (note 28)  -  691,639  -  691,639 
- Current cash and cash equivalents  752,076  261,980  711,873  230,580 

 752,076  953,619  711,873  922,219 
Bank overdrafts (note 17)  (31,200,217)  (43,459,660)  (29,326,027)  (41,269,534)

Rs  (30,448,141)  (42,506,041)  (28,614,154)  (40,347,315)

(e) Non-cash transactions

The principal non-cash transactions are the acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 5) financed by related party:

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019
Additions to Property, Plant and Equipment: Rs Rs Rs Rs
Total additions (note 5)  6,117,913  4,655,577  6,117,913  16,155,577 
Additions financed by related party (note 29)  (4,950,000)  -  (4,950,000)  - 
Cash transactions Rs  1,167,913  4,655,577  1,167,913  16,155,577 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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28. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a) Following board resolution on 05 August 2019, two 100% owned subsidiaries amalgamated with Paper Converting Co. Ltd.

2019
Net Assets taken over on amalgamation

Pacon Ltd

Tissue 
Converting 

Ltd Total
Non-current assets Rs Rs Rs
Property, plant & equipment
- Cost (Note 5)  27,587,942  28,005,905  55,593,847 
- Accumulated Depreciation (Note 5)  (23,586,483)  (27,493,897)  (51,080,380)
Net Book Value acquired (Note 27(a))  4,001,459  512,008  4,513,467 
Deposit on investment  -  1,708,890  1,708,890 

 4,001,459  2,220,898  6,222,357 
Current assets
Inventories  21,387,528  -  21,387,528 
Trade and other receivables  42,356,756  7,975,122  50,331,878 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 27(d))  691,443  196  691,639 

 64,435,727  7,975,318  72,411,045 
Current liabilities
Borrowings  1,544,790  -  1,544,790 
Trade and other payables  48,674,745  6,275,997  54,950,742 

 50,219,535  6,275,997  56,495,532 

Net assets Rs  18,217,651  3,920,219  22,137,870 

(b) Proceeds on amalgamation 2019

Pacon Ltd

Tissue 
Converting 

Ltd Total
Rs Rs Rs

Amount initially invested by PCCL  15,000,000  10,000,000  25,000,000 
Less: Net assets acquired  (18,217,651)  (3,920,219)  (22,137,870)
Loss on amalgamation (Note 27(a)) Rs  (3,217,651)  6,079,781  2,862,130 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Purchase 
of

goods or
services

Sale of 
goods or
services

Management
fees paid

Rental
Income

Share of 
results
of joint 
venture

Amount 
owed

by related
parties

Amount 
owed

to related
parties

Deposit on
investment

Deposit on
investment

property

(a) THE GROUP

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs
(i) 2020

Trading transactions
Holding company  -  2,877,063  -  -  -  910,050  1,748,681  -  - 
Joint venture  -  -  5,448,000  -  82,465  -  -  -  - 
Enterprise over 
which Directors have  
significant influence  263,200  206,968,932  -  1,331,261  -  45,710,387 

 
27,068,803  - 

 
89,674,000 

Individual 
shareholder with 
significant  
influence  -  -  -  -  -  158,279  327,375  -  - 

 263,200  209,845,995  5,448,000  1,331,261  82,465  46,778,716  29,144,859  - 89,674,000 
(i) 2019

Trading transactions
Holding company  -  -  -  -  -  2,210,050  -  -  - 
Joint venture  7,246,000  -  7,240,000  -  49,113  3,876,143  342,745  -  - 
Enterprise over which 
Directors have  
significant influence  6,030,613  183,121,145  -  1,331,261  -  7,416,850  10,809,856  13,085,210 

 
89,674,000 

Individual 
shareholder with 
significant  
influence  -  -  -  -  -  -  122,683  -  - 

13,276,613  183,121,145  7,240,000  1,331,261  49,113  13,503,043  11,275,284  13,085,210 89,674,000 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(b) THE HOLDING 
COMPANY

Purchase 
of

goods or
services

Sale of 
goods or
services

Management
fees paid

Rental
Income

Share of 
results
of joint 
venture

Amount 
owed

by related
parties

Amount 
owed

to related
parties

Deposit on
investment

Deposit on
investment

property
(i) 2020 Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs

Trading transactions
Holding company  -  2,877,063  -  -  -  910,050  -  -  - 
Subsidiary 
companies  -  -  -  -  -  20,554,473  3,309,685  -  - 
Jointly venture  -  -  5,448,000  -  82,465  -  -  -  - 
Enterprise over 
which Directors have 
significant influence  263,200  203,718,514  -  1,331,261  -  39,998,182  21,779,156  -  - 
Individual 
shareholder with 
significant influence  -  -  -  -  -  158,279  276,250  -  - 

 263,200  206,595,577  5,448,000  1,331,261  82,465 61,620,984  25,365,091  -  - 

(i) 2019
Trading transactions
Holding company  -  -  -  -  -  2,210,050  -  -  - 
Subsidiary companies  -  2,900  -  -  -  1,354,932  6,454,715  -  - 
Jointly venture  7,246,000  -  7,240,000  -  -  3,876,144  342,745  -  - 
Enterprise over which 
Directors have  
significant influence  6,030,613  183,121,145  -  1,331,261  -  7,416,849  2,505,849  13,085,210  89,674,000 
Individual 
shareholder with 
significant  
influence  -  -  -  -  -  -  122,682  -  - 

13,276,613  183,124,045  7,240,000  1,331,261  -  14,857,975  9,425,991  13,085,210 89,674,000 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c)(i) The above transactions have been made at arm’s length, on normal commercial terms and in the normal course of business.

   (ii) No provision made for doubtful debts in respect of amounts owed by related parties for the year 2020 (2019: Nil).
  (iii) The amounts outstanding from related parties are unsecured and will be settled in cash.

(d) Key management personnel compensation, including Directors’ remuneration and benefits

THE GROUP THE HOLDING COMPANY

2020 2019 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs
Board attendance fees  525,000  500,000  525,000  500,000 

30. HOLDING COMPANY

The holding company of Paper Converting Co. Ltd is, Deramann Ltd, which is incorporated in Mauritius. The address of its registered 
office is Bonne Terre, Vacoas. The Company is controlled by Deramann Ltd which owns 78.244% of the Company’s shares. 
The remaining 21.756% of the shares is widely held.

31. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly 
reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker of the Company to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance. 
The strategy of the Group is to produce and sell consumer goods. Information reported to the Board is on an integrated basis, which 
is how decisions over resource allocation are made. The Group itself has only one product being consumer goods. As such, the Group 
considers there to be one operating segment being the production, import and sale of consumer goods.

32. CONTINGENCIES

At 31 December 2020, there were contingent liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business in respect of bank guarantees and fixed 
and floating charges on the assets of the Group. No provision has been made in the financial statements as the Directors anticipate that 
no material liabilities would arise in respect of the above. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
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33. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(a) Impact of Covid-19 on the Financial statements

The coronavirus disease 2019 (Covid-19) outbreak has caused extensive disruptions to business operations around the globe.

Mauritius had successfully contained the community spread of Covid-19 in 2020 and the population resumed to a "new normal" with 
a range of restrictions enshrined in the Covid-19 bill. The Government rolled out a national vaccination programme in early March in 
an attempt to achieve herd immunity.  However, in response to the recent resurgence of local cases in Mauritius, and an effort to avoid 
a second wave of infections, the Prime Minister has announced on 09 March 2021 a national lockdown to be implemented from 6am 
on Wednesday 10 March 2021, until 30 April 2021 (Phase 1). Phase 2 of the lifting of restrictions may be reviewed by the Government 
in light of the evolution of the situation.

The duration and severity of the lockdown, as well as the effectiveness of Government and Central Bank responses, remain unclear 
at this time. Except for dividend proposed for year 2019 which have been cancelled in 2020, it is not possible to reliably estimate 
the financial consequences of this new lockdown on the financial position and results of the Group for future periods at this stage. 
The Board of Directors will continue to support the managed entities and reflect the consequences as appropriate in the accounting 
and financial reporting disclosures.

Accordingly, the financial position and results of operations as of and for the year ended 31 December 2020 have not been adjusted to 
reflect the impact of the new lockdown.      

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
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PROXY FORM

I/We ............................................................. of .......................................................... being a shareholder of Paper Converting Company Limited, do

hereby appoint.................................................................. of ......................................................................... failing him, .................................................................. 

of .......................................................as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 5th  Annual Meeting of

Paper Converting Company Limited to be held at its Registered Office, Bonne Terre, Vacoas on Friday 24 September 2021 at 11.00 hours

and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We desire my/our vote(s) to be cast on the resolutions as follows:

FOR AGAINST

1. To approve the minutes of proceedings of the last Annual Meeting of the shareholders held on 25 September 2020.

2.
To receive and approve the Group’s and Company’s Audited Accounts for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2020 

and to adopt the Annual Report.

3.
To reappoint Messrs, Moore Mauritius (previously known as Moore Stephens (Mauritius)) as auditors for the Financial Year 

ending 31 December 2021 and to authorize the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

4. To fix the remuneration of the Directors.

5. To ratify the resolutions passed by the Directors during the year.

6. Shareholders’ question time.

7. Any other business.

Signed this ............. day of ............. . 2021.

Signature(s) ............. 

• A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a Proxy to his/her own choice (whether a member or not)     
  to attend and vote on his/her behalf.
• Please mark [X] in the appropriate box how you wish to vote. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the Proxy will exercise his/her own       
  discretion as to how he/she votes.
• The instrument appointing a Proxy or any General Power of Attorney shall be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company, not less than   
  48 hours before the day fixed for the meeting or else the instrument of Proxy shall not be treated as valid.
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